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Part I: Field Report (Geoffrey King)
Introduction

The survey of which this constitutes
the second report was conceived as a
re-examination of material remains in
Jordan relating to the transition between
the Byzantine and the early Islamic
periods. The survey concentrated initially
on those regions of the country where the
distribution of well-known Umayyad sites
implied that it might be useful to search for
others; the results of earlier surveys also
suggested that the re-examination of
certain sites and districts could be of value
from the viewpoint of this transitional
phase and helped to determine the areas
and sites on which to lay stress. OQur main
intention has been to place the familiar
early Islamic desert sites into a wider
framework, and although other regions
were surveyed during the second season,
the desert and its immediate perimeters
were the principle focus of our attention.
The character of the early Islamic sites in
the desert and their surroundings suggests
that it is quite inadequate to treat them as
isolated phenomena constructed in
desolate areas by Umayyad rulers and
amirs interested only in creating an
environment for their personal frivolities
— the desert retreats and ‘‘pleasure
palaces” of a half-bedouin régime. The
results of our work in and along the edges
of the Jordanian desert over the past two
seasons indicate that a different view
should be taken: the distribution of sites
begins to suggest a process of establishing
new settlements and improving old ones in
the desert and marginal lands, while
occupation in villages close to the desert
often continued from the Byzantine

period. In part, the Umayyad site
distribution may reflect a concern with
communications within their Arabia and
Bilad al-Sham oriented state, but their
practical developments in eastern Jordan
must also be seen in context of political
factors within the Caliphate.

The Second Season

The survey team concentrated during
the second season on the following areas:
1. Sites in the eastern Jordanian desert

towards Wadi al-Sirhan and the Sa‘udi
Arabian frontier were examined: to
continue our researches begun during
the first season (1980). During the
second season, we further investigated
Qasr al-Mushash, as well as the site at
Wadi al-Jilat and Qasr Bayer.

2. The Hawran was examined once more
as additional work remained to be
completed from the previous season. In
addition, the area between Umm al-
Quttayn and Azraq was traversed and
further to the east, Wadi Mugat was
followed southwards from H4 as far as
the Sa‘udi Arabian border.

3. A number of sites south of Madaba and
north of Wadi al-Mujib were surveyed
in order to determine the degree of
Byzantine and Islamic period occupa-
tion immediately west of the desert.
Work remains to be done in this region
before our report on this area can be
published, * and only the mosque at
Umm al-Walid will be discussed at this
stage.

4. As an extension of our fieldwork in the

1. The third report of the survey will deal with sites
in the southern Ghawr and the Wadi °Araba.
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The fourth report will deal with sites north of
Wadi al-Mijib and west of Mafraq.




Hawran, a limited number of sites west
of Mafraq towards Jerash were sur-
veyed. A certain amount of fieldwork
remains to be carried out in this region
and the results will be published in a
subsequent report.

Section 1: Eastern desert

(Note: Throughout sections 1 and 2, for

references to ceramic tabulations and.

stone artefacts, see Part II: C. J. Lenzen
and Part III: G. O. Rollefson, respective-

ly).
Qasr al-Mushash (Fig. 1: Plan)

Several visits to Qasr al-Mushash?
allowed more extensive observations of
the area surrounding the main site than
had been possible during the previous
season and more detailed notations of the
structural remains were made. While the
various installations that constitute the site
were sherded, more precise dating is to be
hoped for from the excavations initiated at
the complex subsequent to our second
season by Dr. Ghazi Bisheh. In view of the
additional information now available to

us, the installations at Qasr al-Mushash
noted in 1980 will be discussed followed
thereafter by descriptions of other remains
located in 1981.:.

I. Smaller enclosure (qasr) II. Circular
birka; 1I1. Larger enclosure/birka (?)

These structures were all seen in 1980,
situated close to the north bank of the
Wadi al-Mushash flood channel. The small

. enclosure, the gasr (I), measures a little

over 26.00 x 26.00 m. and it is oriented
towards the cardinal points. Stones from
the enclosure wall of the gasr had fallen
into the Wadi al-Mushash since 1980. Most
of the sherds collected were found around
graves to the east of the gasr rather than
within it. Nearby 'is theé small circular .
stone-lined tank II, formerly roofed with
stone slabs supported by three stone
arches, and measuring 4.20 m. in dia-
meter; of the roof-supporting arches, only
two remain intact, with a number of
wushum cut into the masonry. Roofing
slabs still rest on these arches on the
south-east side of the birka. Some traces of
plaster survive on the interior surface of
the birka wall, a feature shared with other

2. Qasr al Mushash has been noted by earlier
travellers, although none but G. L. Harding has
assomated it with the Arabs, Alois Musil visited
the site on 15th June, 1901, (Kusejr-<Amra, 1,
Textband mit einer Karte von Arabia Petraea,
Kaiserliche Akademie der Wissenschaften,
Vienna, 1907, p. 115, with Fig. 104 and 105).
Thereafter, B. Moritz visited the site in 1905-
1906 (Ausfliige in der Arabia Petraea, Mélanges
de la Faculté Orientale, Université Saint-Joseph
III, fasc. 1, 1908, p. 425-427, Taf. VII). Their
accounts are given in an appendix to this report.
Sir Aurel Stein visited Qasr al-Mushash on 19th
March, 1938, unaware that it had been de-
scribed by Musil and Moritz (Stein Limes
Report in D.L. Kennedy, Archaeological Ex-
plorations on the Roman Frontier in North-East
Jordan, BAR International Series, Oxford,
1982, p. 254-255; Kennedy also gives a short
reference, p. 302). Stein regarded Qagr al-
Mushash as a part of the Roman road and limes
system from “‘Uwaynid and Azraq through to
<Amman (Philadelphia). G. L. Harding referred
to the site in his unpublished Notebooks held at
the Registration Centre of the Department of
Antiquities in “Amman: “Qasr Amshash @ 60
in “Sites Register Trans-Jordan Vol. ‘A’)
District: East
Map Ref: 2745 1364
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Date: Arab(?), Prehistoric
Description: “Ruined Castle”
“Rolled Abbevilean (sic) (Chellean) flints in
the wady bed”
Remarks: Sch. OG 621
SM I, 28 :
“Flints in wady to N.”
Harding thus was the first to make the
connection between the gasr and the Arabs: itis
mentioned in the Prehistoric, Chalcolithic and
“early & medieval Arabic & Crusaders” maps
in the The Archaeological Heritage of Jordan,
Amman, 1973, part 1. See also G. King,
Preliminary Report on a Survey of Byzantine
and Islamic sites in Jordan 1980, ADAJ, XXVI
(1982) p. 86-88, and note 8 for map references;
and, Byzantine and Islamic sites in northern and
eastern Jordan, Proceedings of the 13th Seminar
for Arabian Studies 13 (1983), p. 83-84.
Although the name is generally given as Qasr
al-Mushash, we have heard it described by the
local people as Umm al-Shash, close enough to
Harding’s “Amshash”. Moritz knew the site
only as “al-Qusayr”. Qasr al-Mushdsh must be
distinguished from Qasr al-Mushaysh which lies
south-south-east of al-Qatrana in the desert.
3. Qasr al-Mushash was visited on 27th July, 10th
August and 17th August, 1981.
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birak at the site. On the eastern side of the
round birka, at the base of the lining wall,
is a small square feeder pipe which is
plastered and which must have drawn its
water supply from somewhere to the
north-east. Although other birak at al-
Mushash are plastered, this, the smallest,
is the only one to have been roofed. In
view of this precaution to keep the water
stored in the birka clean, it is suggested
that the small tank was intended to pro-
vide the occupants of the gasr with drink-
ing water. Piled just to the south-east of
the birka is the earth excavated when the
birka was dug.

The large enclosure (III) is outlined
by earth banks, measuring about 33.00 m.
x 34.00 m. and it is oriented towards the
cardinal points. Dr. Bisheh is probably
correct in suggesting that it was a birka, for
contrary to our original impression, the
central area of the enclosure is without
feature. A piece of broken marble slab
lying on the surface within the western
part of the enclosure must have originated
in the bath (IV) just to the west.

IV. Furance, bath and related structures

These installations, immediately west
of the large enclosure III, appear as little
more than surface wall-traces delimiting
the eastern and western sides of a small
building. At the northern end, where an
ashy pit with clay piping, fired brick and
marble fragments were found in 1980,
unauthorised digging had taken place by
August, 1981. This had revealed yet more
ashy deposit and freshly broken marble
slabs. Among the fragments was a piece of
baked brick, plastered on one face, and a
fragment of worked basalt, a stone not
found in this area. The speculation that the
installation had been a furnace and a bath
has been confirmed subsequently by Dr.
Bisheh’s excavations.

V. Birka

The birka to the west of installation
IV was first noted in 1980. It measures
17.98 m. x 6.81 m. and has its longer sides
on an east-west axis. Its depth to the
present floor level is 2.56 m. A stepped
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course at the base of the stone walls on
three sides (and probably originally on all
four sides) suggests that the floor level
towards the eastern side of the birka
approximates to the original depth. At the
best preserved point, the stone walls lining
the birka are nine courses deep, including
the step-like foot. In each of the three
intact corners of the birka there is a single
stone laid on angle, set half-way up in the
wall, as if to act as a brace. The interstices
between the stones lining the birka are
filled with a cementing plaster which must
have coated the entire surface. Similar
plaster appears on the walls of other birak
in the Qasr al-Mushash complex. In the
centre of the birka-wall, at the summit on
the west side, is a shallow stone-lined
channel running from the west; it extends
3.40 m. in that direction, as far as can be
judged from the surface. The water to feed
the birka was clearly drawn from the west,
where there are several wall-traces. The
position of birka V indicates that it was
related to the furnace (IV) to the east.
Further wall traces lie to the south of the
furance IV and birka V, and one of these
walls can be seen in section in the face of
the north bank of the Wadi al-Mushash
flood channel.

Tributary awdiyah north of Wadi al-
Mushash (Fig. 1: Plan).

There are several tributary awdiyah
running into Wadi al-Mushash from the
north with their outlets in the vicinity of
the Qasr al-Mushash installations
described above. Wadi A marks the
westernmost channel across whose course
a further installation was noted; no other
structural remains were located to the west
of this wadi. Further east lie awdiyah B
and C, beside and in which other
installations were found.

VI. Wall in the north bank of Wadi
al-Mushash (Pl. LXXXV,1)

A wall was noted for the first time by
this expedition in 1981 to the west of the
main installations: it measures some 23.60

. m. in length, lying across the mouth of the

small tributary wadi channel A (Fig. 1:



Plan). This wall was entirely silted on its
north face when found and our
observations are limited to the south face.
It appeared that water was intended to
collect on the north side. Just east of this
area there are two low mounds. It was
speculated that water from here may have
fed birka V which in turn supplied
installation IV.

The exposed south face of wall VI
stands to only three or four courses of
stone above the present Wadi al-Mushash
bed, with each course some 0.30 m. high.
The face of the wall is plastered; the
plaster has flat stones mixed into it, a
system found elsewhere in the Qasr al-
Mushash complex. The summit of the wall
is capped by a stone course 0.05 m. thick
which levels it off. To the west of this wall
is a water channel with stone sides and
hard cement-like lining forming the floor
of the channel. The channel continues
westwards to terminate in a substantial

rectangular structure whose original form -

cannot be determined without excavation
(Subsequently this structure was cleared
by Dr. Bisheh).

Wadi B: Installations VII, VIII and IX (PL.
LXXXV, 2)

The second tributary wadi, B, flows
towards Wadi al-Mushash and debouches
to the north of the gasr (I). About 400.00
m. northwards along the wadi B channel,
two further occupation areas were noted
(VII and VIII). Installation VII lies to the
west of the Wadi B flood channel on the
slope. It consists of a number of wall traces
and stone rubble, with scatters of sherds
which are Late Byzantine/Umayyad or
clearly Umayyad wares. The walls outline
several rectangular structures whose limits
can be quite readily defined. Opposite, on
the east bank, is installation VIII (Pl
LXXXV,2), a small rectangular enclosure
described by earth ramps. A fragment of
finely polished white marble panel was
found on the surface, 18 mm. in thickness.

Just under half a kilometre north of
installations VII and VIII, along the
course of wadi B is a very large birka (IX),
situated on the west side of the flood
channel. Immediately south and south-
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east of the birka is an earth barrage set
east-west across the channel, cut by the
modern track in the wadi bed. The pur-
pose of the barrage was apparently to
deflect water back into the birka from this
channel, as it flowed south to the Wadi
al-Mushash. The barrage and mounds
south and north of the birka were built
from the material excavated when the
birka were built from the material exca-
vated when the birka was dug. The birka
measures 19.35 m. north-south and 18.35
m. east-west and to present floor level has
a depth of 4.69 m., which is probably its
original maximum. The birka walls are
stone-lined with fifteen courses and a
sixteenth course forming an overhanging
ledge that runs around the north, west and
south sides. This ledge once must have
continued along the east side as well. The
birka has a staircase of projecting stone
slabs which have snapped off: these com-
mence at the west end of the north wall
and descend to the east to provide access
to the water in the birka. From the north,
the birka was fed by a channel which
debouches precisely above the staircase.
This channel is stone-lined with a central
stone ridge which in effect creates a double
mouth. The channel is a total of 0.94 m.
wide and it can still be traced for a distance
of 5.40 m. towards the north. The corners
of the birka are curved rather than squared
off and the sides are coated with a plaster
in which small stones are mixed as de-
scribed above for installation VI.

X. Barrage

Just east of the mouth of tributary
wadi B, to the north-east of the gasr (I), a
small gulley in a hill-side has been closed
off by an earth barrage at its southern end
to collect the water running off the slopes.
Wadi C, C1, C2: Installations XI, XII,
XIII, XIV, XV. ‘

East of wadi B is a third tributary
wadi, designated as wadi C. Before it
debouches into Wadi al-Mushash the track
from the Qasr al-Mushash complex to
Qasr al- Harana crosses its course. In the
northern reaches of wadi C, the main
channel divides, with a channel C1 bran-
ching to the north-west and a second
channel, C2 branching to the north-east.




In both upper tributaries further installa-
tions are located in addition to those
downstream in Wadi C.

XI. Rectangular foundations

Installations XI lies on the west bank
of wadi C, set a little above the flood
channel, and it consists of a group of
rectangular outlines formed by low ramps
and wall traces on the slope, arranged in
terraces.

XII. Wall traces

A short distance south and east of
installation XI are walls describing a large
rectangular outline in the bed of wadi C.

XIII. Birka, Wadi C1

A further water storage brika is set
into the south-western slope above wadi
C1 (XIII). It appears to be a natural cavity
which has been widened into a T-shaped
reservoir. The walls are of the natural
rock, made smooth, and where cavities
existed, they have been filled with stones.
The entire surface was then plastered in
two layers, the under layer mixed with
stones, and the surface provided by a finer
finish; this is the same system as that used
to plaster the large birka IX and the wall
VI. It is now difficult to estimate the depth
of this T-shaped birka XIII as rubble
conceals the floor. It must have been fed
primarily by wadi C1 for there is an earth
barrage to the east intended to deflect
water flowing in the flood channel back
into birka X1IIL. The birka is partly covered
. on its western side by a natural roofing of
rock, presumably to reduce evaporation.
A number of stone artefacts were found in
this vicinity.

XIV and XV. Blocked birak, Wadi C2

On the west bank of the wadi C2
channel, a further two birka-traces were
idenitified, XIV and XV, although both
were blocked. They appear originally to
have been similar to birka X111 in wadi C1.
Of the two, birka XIV is more clearly
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defined: it consists of a blocked reservoir,
choked with soil and reduced to a mere
depression. There is a barrage nearby
which once served to deflect water from
the flood-channel into the birka, although
the barrage is eroded. The earth for the
barrage probably came from the excava-
tion of the birka. Birka XV, just south of
birka X1V, is of the same nature, although
apparently smaller and much less clearly
defined. All that is visible is the trace of an
earth deflector barrage and a slight de-
pression in the ground. It was identified
only because we were already familiar with
the significance of these remains after
examining birak XIII and XIV.

Installations east and south of the main
complex

A number of related installations
were located beyond the main concentra-
tion of structures and birak at Qagr al-
Mushash. Although some were discovered
in 1981, others were found during the third
season in the field in 1982: it is more
convenient to describe them here, rather
than to await the publication of the report
for the third season.

XVI. Birka (Pl. LXXXVI, 1)

This installation is situated well
beyond the principle occupation areas of
the main Qasr al-Mushash complex,
although it was ‘without doubt a part of the
overall system. The installation is south-
east of the main site and just north of the
track from Qasr al-Mushash to Qasr al-
Harana; at first sight, it appeared to be no
more than a mound of white soil but this
proved to be yet another barrage to deflect
water into an excavated birka. This birka is
set on the edge of a small tributary wadi
running into Wadi al-Mushash channel.

Two massive circular piers support a
roof of natural rock which covers much of
the excavated birka to reduce evaporation.
These piers and the sides of the irregularly
shaped birka are plastered in the same
manner as already noted in the cases of
installations VI, IX and XIII.



XVII. Blocked birka* (Pl. LXXXVI, 2)

On a subsequent visit to Qasr al-

Mushash in 1982 a further blocked birka

and barrage of white excavated soil were
identified a short distance east of birka
XVIin another tributary wadi running into
wadi al-Mushash from the north. This
blocked birka is separated from birka XVI
by a spur from the hills lying to the north.
The traces of this birka XVII relate it to
others of the main Qagr al-Mushash com-
plex.

XVIII. Qanawat (Pls. LXXXVII, 1-2)

Exploring the area south of the Wadi
al-Mushash channel to investigate lines
noted on aerial photographs ° it was found
that the lines are parallel ridges, the
remains of ganawat running north-west to
south-east. The northern line has a secon-
dary branch running off towards the Wadi
al-Mushash and two branches forking at
the eastern extremity. A further line runs
southwards from the southern of the two

parallel ridges. Unfortunately, the ends of

the systems either peter out or have been
destroyed by the Wadi. Along the sides of
these Qanat traces there are circular
mounds of small stones (P1. LXXXVII, 2)
set at intervals, especially beside the south-
ern ridge line. A similar phenomenon is
recorded at Nessana in the Nagab® where
P. Mayerson concluded that ‘the stone
mounds were for cultivating vines or trees,
referring to them as ““tuleilat el-sanab” and
“rujim el-kurim”. Dr. Bisheh put for-
ward a similar suggestion at the time of the
discovery of these mounds. This is the
clearest evidence of cultivation as opposed
to pastoralism based on water storage
found so far at al-Mush@sh.

An Installation Towards Qasr al-Harana
(Pl. LXXXVIIL1)

Continuing 1.5 km south-east from
birka XVI at al-Mush@sh, a number of
walls were noted .south of the track:’
beyond, the track continues on to (Qasr
al-Har@na, which can be clearly seen on
the distant horizon from high points
around the al-Mushash site. The
installation had recently been used by the
Army to judge by the tracks and debris left
behind. While the standing enclosure walls
are probably recent, the underlying wall-
traces indicate that there were earlier
structures. The ceramic tabulation for this
site is extremely interesting: the majority
of the sherds collected are Byzantine, with
far fewer Late Byzantine and Umayyad
wares. Since the evidence of Byzantine
occupation is so pronounced, it would be
unwise at this stage to associate the site too
closely with the Qasr al-Mushash complex
which is principally Umayyad, judging
from the sherd evidence. This ruined
structure is 1mportant not so much for its
continued use in the Umayyad period-
lying between the complex at al-Mushash
and Qasr al-Harana this is to be expected-
but for the evidence that it presents of
Byzantine use of this area. G. W.
Bowersock® has suggested that there may
have been some Nabataecan and Roman
presence that preceded the Umayyad de-
velopment of sites like Qusayr ‘Amra,
Qasr al-Harana and Qasr al-Tuba. He also
mentions Qasr al- Hallabat where the case
is now very clear following Dr. Bisheh’s
recent excavations. The sherd reading
from our small site south-east of Qasr
al-Mushash, implies that such a pre-
Umayyad use of the sites in the desert may
have also occurred in the Byzantine
period. At Qasr al-Mushash the number of
Byzantine sherds is too 'small to interpret
the site as pre-Umayyad, but even here the
presence of these Byzantine sherds may
take on some importance in view of the

4. Installations XVII and XVIII were located on
6th September, 1982 when we accompanied Dr.
Ghazi Bisheh to the site. Dr. Bisheh described
his recent excavations there and kindly made his
plans available to the author, for which I am
most grateful.

5. IGN-78-JOR-16/250 no. 476, 1:25,000 Series,
Jordanian Geographical Centre, Zarqa.

6. Philip Mayerson, The ancient agricultural
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regime of Nessana and the central Negeb,
Excavations at Nessana (Auja Hafir, Palestine),
ed. H. Dunscombe Colt, London, 1962, vol. 1,
p. 249-257 and plates XLI.5 and XLIL6.

7. Located 10th August, 1981.

8. G. W. Bowersock, A report on Arabia
Provincia Journal of Roman Studies, LXI
(1971) p. 242.




Byzantine use of the installation en route.

to al-Harana.

It is clear from the foregoing that Qasr
al-Mushash was a complex of great scale
and that one of its main purposes was to
collect water in considerable quanti-
ties.Even if the small circular birka (1I)
was intended as a drinking water supply
for the residents of the qgasr (I) and birka
VI was employed in conjunction with
furnace IV for the bath, there still remain
between seven and ten additional water
collection and storage points. Of these,
birka X has a capacity of 165 cu. m. Itis to
be presumed that after a wet winter, a
certain amount of water would remain in
some of these reservoirs for quite a long
period as long as they were maintained.
Qagr al-Mushash lies on the edge of the
present 100 mm. annual average precipita-
tion area, ° but the heavy winter and spring
rainfall and flooding of the awdiyah that
has taken place since we first saw the site
in 1980 suggests that there would be little
difficulty in filling the birak during a wet
winter: the lack of water in the birak in
summer today is probably because of the
deterioration of the sealing plaster lining
them, as much as evaporation. Mean-
wh11e the heavy rainfall of recent years
has ensured that the Wadi al-Mushash
flood channel and its surroundings have
remained well covered with thick foliage
through the high summer: this situation
must have been as likely to occur in
ancient times as today and provided graz-
ing.

It should be noted that the majority of
the water catchment systems at Qasr al-
Mushash are in the tributary awdiyah
north of Wadi al-Mushash. It is possible
that the flow of these northern tributaries
was more manageable than that in the
main Wadi al-Mushd@sh channel and less
damaging to the constructions themselves.
However, Dr. Bisheh has found some
indication that there may have been an

attempt to harness the water in the main
Wadi al-Mushash itself.

Why were so many birak required?
No field traces seem to exist in the aerial
photographs available to us, nor could any
be identified on the ground, although the
transformation of the morphology of the
area through flooding may account for
this. The existing ganat and rujm <anab
system (XVIII) are very restricted within
the overall complex. Rather than serving
cultivation, it seems more likely that the
storage of large quantities of water was
intended to support herds of animals,
sheep and goats in particular; this issue
will be returned to below in the context of
the dams at Wadi al-Jilat. The pottery
tabulation of the Qasr al-Mushash installa-
tions shows that we are dealing in the main
with a large scale Umayyad desert de-
velopment to be seen not only in the
context of the other early Islamic sites in
east Jordan, but also to be compared with
other Umayyad water-control and storage
installations in Bilad al-Sham.

Dams in Wadi al-Jilat (Pls. LXXXVIII, 2;
LXXXIX, 1-2)

The dams at Wadi al-Jilat were visited
after our examination of Qagr al-Mushash*
approaching the site from the east via Qagr
al-Harana. The dams in Wadi al-Jilat are
26 kms. south-south-west of al-Harana,
although the route that we followed was by
no means so direct. The dam site has been
visited by several expeditions, the earliest
being that of Henry Field, who reached it
on May 8, 1928, on the way from “Amman
and Mshatta to Qasr al-Tuba and Bayer."
Field called the site “Birkat Tuba”, a
name unknown to the Bani Sakhr bedouin
with whom we stayed. Field described the
site, which coincides very clearly with that
which we saw, as follows:

“At mile 64 we arrived at a large

dam, perhaps 100 feet wide, which

9. National Water Masterplan of Jordan, The
Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan, National
Resources Authority, Amman/Federal
Republic of Germany, German Agency for
Technical Cooperation, Ltd., Frankfurt, Essen,
Hanover (July, 1977), Map SW-4.1.

10. Map ref. BQ 539 882, Sheet 3253 II, series .
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K737. Aerial photograph: IGN-78-JOR-16/250
No. 413; Scale 1:25,000, Jordanian
Geographical Centre, Zarqa. Visited 11th
August, 1981.

11. Henry Field, North Arabian Desert
Archaeological Survey, 1925-50, Cambridge,
MA. 1960, p. 75.



must have held an extremely large

- reservoir before it became silted up.
Three deep buttresses sustained the
dam, but their faces had fallen away
in time of earthquake under the
pressure of the masonry and silt
behind them. The masonry was of
hewn blocks with a filling of small
stones. The wall of the dam was not
vertical but very steeply stepped to
break the force of the overflow.
There was no visible sluice. The wall
was about 15 courses high... About
200 paces further down the wadi, a
smaller dam controlled the flow of a
minor watercourse into the stream
bed. This was of rougher workman-
ship, and was perhaps built by poorer
rulers after the great dam had been
silted up and neglected.”

The next account of this site is given

by J. d’A. Waechter and V. M. Seton-
Williams,” although they say little of the

dams.

They mention a small bedouin

mosque above the Wadi which still
remains.

N. Glueck subsequently visited the

site,” describing it as being in “Wadi
Dhébai’:

“We came across such a dam, built
probably by the Romans, in the Wadi
Dhébai, far from any permanent
settlement, to catch the freshets
caused by occasional rains and thus
provide water for numerous flocks.
This dam is about 85 km. n.w.-n.n.w.
of Bayir, and some 58 km. w.s.w.-
s.w. of ‘Amri in the WAdi Sirhan, and
38 km. s.w.-s.s.w. of Qasr Kharaneh
The main wall of the dam is still in
excellent condition on the whole. We
made no attempt to measure it
exactly, being able to spend only a

very few minutes in the vicinity. The
width of the top of the dam is 5.50 m.,
and its length on the top is about 57.8
m. The top of the outer s. face of the
wall is flush with the silt which has
filled up the wadi-bed on that side.
There is a drop of some 6 m. on the
inner side down to the bed of the
wadi, ennabling 15 courses of stones
to be seen. The rows of stones are set
back successively about 12 cms. from
each other. There are 3 piers
buttressing the inner side of the dam.
Many of the stones of these
buttressing piers have been dislodged
and fallen to the ground.

“There are supposed to be the
remains of another dam, much less
well preserved, farther down the
wadi. We were unable to locate them
in the time at our disposal. The
analogy thus with the dams at Kurnub
becomes a compelling one. About
500 m. from the main dam, the Wadi
Dhobai bends eastwards, and there is
a deep drop in its bed, with a great
hole scoured out as if by a strong
waterfall. This waterfall probably
exists for a brief while when the wadi
is in flood. At the time of our visit on
May 8, 1944, there was a pool of
putrid water in it. No greater
testimony to the dynamic quality of
the population and rulers of the
country in the first centuries A.D.,
and to the peace and enterprise which
prevailed, could be furnished than by
dams such as these. The impounded
rainwater served great flocks long
after the brief rainy seasons had
passed.”

In fact, the correct name of the Wadi

in which the two dams are situated is Wadi

12.

13.

J. I’A. Waechter and V. M. Seton-Williams and
colleagues, The excavations at Wadi Dhobai,
1937-1938 and the Dhobaian Industry, The
Journal of the Palestine Oriental Society, XVIII
(1938: nos. 3-4) p. 173-174 and plan 1.

Nelson Glueck, Explorations in Eastern
Palestine IV, Part 1, text, AASOR, XXV-
XXVIII (1945-1949) p. 49-53 and figs. 39-41,
plate entitled “Dam in Wadi Dhébai”. To the
above references should be added a brief
outline in G.L. Harding’s unpublished
Notebooks, Registration Centre, Department
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of Antiquities, ‘Amman:

“Wady Dhobai”

Dist.: Desert )

Map Ref.: 288145 approx.

Date: Prehistoric, Roman

Biblio. JPOS (Journal Pal. Orient. Soc.)
“Many small prehistoric sites and a Roman
Dam in the Wady.” Accompanying Harding’s
entry is a photograph of the main dam: it is
identical with that which we saw in Wadi
al-Jilat. -




al-Jilat, although Waechter and Seton-
Williams, Glueck and Harding all
~ consistently confused the Wadi with Wadi
al-Dab+i into which Wadi al-Jilat flows
before the united channels run towards the
Azraq basin in the north-east. Dr. G.
Rollefson visited al-Jilat in October 1981
and was told by the bedouin that one of
the dams is “rujm Jilat” and they pointed
out two tailed cairns and some smaller
cairns south of the main dam, describing
these as “Qagr Jilat”.* The present author
was assured by the Bani Sakhr that there
were no other antiquities in the vicinity
except the two dams described here, and
the various rujiim. There is no Qagr al-Jilat
as such.

The Wadi al-Jilat at the site of the
dams is very striking in its topography. It
cuts through a broad valley with ranges of
low hills on either side. Within this
depression, a rocky gorge drops steeply
below the level of the valley floor by some
6.00 m. so that the gorge is invisible from a
distance. This gorge commences at the
western end at the main dam which is
silted on its western face up to the summit,
as Field and Glueck have said. Thereafter,
the rocky gorge continues as a narrow
channel with small tributaries flowing in
from either side. The gorge moves in a
generally north-easterly direction with
sharp turns before it eventually broadens
out and the steep cliff sides cease. The
second dam mentioned by Field was
located at the mouth of a tributary in the
south side of the main gorge. Not far
beyond the main dam there are water-
holes in the bare rock of the stream-bed.

The principle dam at al-Jilat could
only be examined from the eastern face,
that is, downstream, because of the total
silting upstream. The eastern face of the
dam is constructed of excellently cut
limestone and banked with regularly
stepped courses. Each step in the dam face
is set back about 0.05 m. from the step
below it, so that the summit of the dam
slopes steeply back from the base. The
dam is 28.85 m. long and 5.80 m. high

measured at the centre of the eastern face
to bedrock. At the north end the slope of
the gorge-bank reduces the height of the
dam from its base. The eastern face of the
dam consists of seventeen courses of ashlar
including the lowest course visible,
submerged at the time of our visit in a pool
of water. A bearing taken along the line of
the dam gave an alignment of 309° (by
Mag. N.). The eastern face of the dam is
reinforced by three rectangular buttresses
which project 2.12 m., measured at the
summit. Although consistently well cut,
the limestone ashlar blocks of which the
dam is constructed vary in their
dimensions: representative measurements
of accessible masonry are as follows:

0.77 x 0.41 m.

0.75 x 0.29 m.

0.51 x 0.35 m.

0.53 x 0.34 x 0.51 m.

0.90 x 0.34 x 0.25 m.

0.57 x 0.35 x 0.28 m.

The filling of the dam as a whole could not
be established but the buttresses on the
east face have a rubble core between good
ashlar facing when examined at the
summit. The dam is covered heavily with
wushum and graffiti but we noticed no sign
of a dating inscription. At the top of the
dam on the level ground on either side
wall-traces were noticed but there was no
opportunity to excavate them to test
whether or not these are indicative of
sluices.

A little further eastwards along the
Wadi al-Jilit gorge the second dam is
located, built to block off a tributary gulley
running into the main channel from the
south. The second dam is ruined but was
very much smaller than the principle dam.
Such was the damage to this smaller dam
that it can only be examined at the points
at which it was built against the sides of the
gulley: the rest of the structure has
vanished. This dam survives on the eastern
side to a maximum of sixteen courses, but
the stone is far less well cut and laid than

. that of the principle dam. Its thickness at

the base is 3.08 m.: at this point, the

14. Communication, 29th November, 1981. A
“Qasr el Jilat” is marked at the site on the
1:250,000 Archaeological Map, Sheet 2, Karak.
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tributary gulley is 9.25 m. wide. The small
dam was intended to trap water in the
gulley but the quality of workmanship,
such of it as remains, is so far inferior to
that of the main dam that it is not difficult
to accept Field’s view that the smaller dam
is pre-dated by the finely built principle
dam. An alternative interpretation would
be that less attention was given to the
building of the smaller dam, and that the
two dams are in fact contemporary.

On the cliff-top above the small dam
is the simple mosque mentioned by
Waechter and Seton-Williams outlined on
the ground with stones, a type laid out by
bedouin in this area and in Arabia. It has a
rectangular mihrab projection of the gibla
side. It would be quite foolhardy to assign
a date to such a structure.

Further along the Wadi al-Jilat, the
gorge makes a turn, at which point the
great natural cavity in the Wadi floor to
which Glueck had referred was found. The
sharp drop in the Wadi bed above this
natural feature must form a spectacular
waterfall when the Wadi al-Jilat floods and
the cavity itself probably retains a con-
siderable quantity of water, afterwards.
East of this cavity, the gorge is without
signs of construction.

Along much of the course of the
steep-side gorge of Wadi al-Jilat below the
principle dam, the stone floor of the
water-channel has been washed smooth
and clean. The circular water-holes in the
stream-bed had water nearly to surface
level at the time of our visit, although
heavily polluted by animals. Water seeped
and oozed in trickles from the sides of the
gorge and the principle dam still held
water in the silt behind it, for a small
waterfall was flowing through a crack in
the south end of the dam and the bedouin
were drawing water from it: water had also
pooled at the base of the dam on its east
side. It must be stressed that our visit was
in August after some months without rain,
and yet the continuing importance of the
dam as a watering place, albeit silted and
damaged, is clear enough. In a wet winter,
as that of 1980-81 had been in the region,

enough water is caught to ensure that the
gorge can be used as a place to draw water
throughout the dry summer months. In the
gorge animal droppings testified to the -
frequent use of the place by bedouin with
their flocks, while the number of Bani
Sakhr tents in the vicinity also reflected the
importance of the site for them.

No sherds were found in the gorge
below the main dam, which is hardly
surprising in view of the amount of water
that must flow through it after rain.
However, a certain amount of pottery was
located on the silted western side of the
principle dam. A further scatter of sherds
was found on the slopes of the hills just to
the south of the gorge, overlooking the
bedouin mosque. This scatter was greater
in quantity than that by the principle dam
but unfortunately we were unable to ex-
amine the area as closely as we would have
wished as there were bedouin tents set up
on the same site. We also found a number
of flints around the dams and nearby. The
exploitation of the place since early times
is already known from Waechter’s inves-
tigations with Seton-Williams, while Dr.
Rollefson’s study of the stone artefacts
appended to this report indicates its use in
Pre-Pottery Neolithic B. Dr. Rollefson has
also noted Safaitic inscriptions on hilltops
south of Wadi al-Jilat.* For historical
periods, the ceramic tabulation by Dr. C.
J. Lenzen shows a span of occupation in
relatively more recent times, and as we
have seen this use of the gorge by the
bedouin continues to this day. There is
little in the sherd evidence to allow a
confident association of the principle dam
with the Romans, despite Glueck’s dating
of the conmstruction, maintained also by
Harding. There is some sherd evidence of
Byzantine period use of the site, but it is
quite meagre. The pottery collected at the
site thus does little to support Glueck’s
belief that the dam is Roman, although
Roman presence or influence in the area is
by no means impossible in theory. Glueck
based his dating on the similarity of the
principle dam at al-Jilat to the main dam at

15. Communication, 29th November, 1981.
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Kurnub/Mampsis® in the Naqab: while it is
a compelling view on the ‘basis of the
character of the masonry of the two
structures, the paucity of Roman wares at
al-Jilat and the greater quantities of
Byzantine, Late ]Byzantine/Umayyad and
Umayyad sherds is disturbing. In view of
this evidence, a better case could be made
for a Byzantine-period — or Ghassanid —
origin for the dam, or an early Islamic
date. Whatever facilities already existed at
al-Jildit in the seventh-eighth centuries
A.D., the use of the place by people using
pottery had increased. The presence of
this Late Byzantine/Umayyad and
Umayyad pottery suggests that the use of
the site in this period should be seen in
context of the Umayyad exploitation of
the eastern desert of Jordan that we have
seen further north. The degree to which
the early Muslims developed water storage
and control facilities at Qasr al-Mushash
and other sites” suggests that a naturally

wet area like the Wadi al-Jilat gorge would
not have been ignored, especially when
the place had been used since ancient.
times, and as it continues to be today.

Such an exploitation of the area by
the early Muslims indicated by ceramics
underlines the importance of the question
of whether or not they actually built the
dams. From the scant ceramic evidence,
this seems as plausible as the Roman
dating proposed by Glueck and by
Harding, although as I have suggested,
construction in the Byzantine period
cannot be excluded. To state the case,
however, for an Islamic period attribution,
it should be recalled that the Umayyads
built other dams to the south in the Hijaz,
where there are several near al-Ta’if. Sadd
Saysid, south-east of al-Ta’if, is 58.00 m.
long and was built in A.H. 58/A.D.
677-678 by cAbd Allah b. Sakhr for the
Caliph Mu‘awiya b. Abi Sufyan according
to the inscription close by.* The dam is

16. C. Leonard Woolley and T. E. Lawrence, The

Wilderness of Zin, London, 1915; new ed. 1936,
p- 139-140 and Plate XXX(2) “Kurnub: Great
Dam”. George Eden Kirk, Archaeological
Exploration in the Southern Desert, PEQ,
(1938) p. 219-220. He describes the Great Dam
at Kurnub as being 26.00 m. long, 8.30 m. high
and 7.00 m. thick, and observes that there are at
least six dams in the wadi south-west of the town
of Kurnub/Mampsis. A. Negev, Mampsis: a
report on excavations of a Nabataeo-Roman
town, Archaeology, 24 (1971) p. 166-171. M.
Avi Yonah and E. Stern (eds.), Encyclopaedia
of Archaeological Excavations in the Holy
Land, OUP I (1977) p. 722-735 with detailed
bibliography. Kurnub/Mampsis flourished
through the Nabataean, Roman and Byzantine
periods, to decline shortly after the Arab
conquest. It is to be noted that no Nabataean

_wares were found at al-Jilat.

17. Examples of major Umayyad hydraulic systems
for controlling water and for farming occur at
Qasr al-Hayr al-Sharqi (Oleg Grabar, Renata
Holod, James Knustead and William Trousdale,
City .in the Desert: Qasr al-Hayr east,
Cambridge, MA, 1978, i, 100ff.), at Qasr
al-Hallabat (Ghazi Bisheh, The second season
of excavations at Hallabat, 1980, I”, ADAJ,
XXVI (1982) p. 133-143), and elsewhere. The
remarks by George C. Miles, Early Islamic
inscriptions near Ta’if in the Hl]aZ Journal of
Near Eastern Studzes, vii (J an.-Oct., 1948) p.
236-242, are illuminating in this context. H.
Gaube (Ein arabischer Palast in Sudsyrien:
Hirbet el-Baida, Beirut, 1974, p. 22-24) raises an
important quesuon regarding the use of the
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desert site of Khirbat al-Bayda in southern
Syria, expressing his doubt that it would have
been in use all year, since hydrological and
climatic conditions were only suitable in March-
May. The point is relevant to the other desert
qusur in eastern Jordan: would water trapped in
winter and spring regularly have remained after
evaporation in the hot dry months? With
unmaintained birak, their plaster fallen, it is
now difficult to say. At Burqu’, deep in the
desert, water was trapped behind the dam in
May 1974, when Gaube studied the site; water
from the rains earlier in the year had vanished
by August, 1980, to be replaced by thick mud.
In April 1928 the Field expedition had found the
lake-bed behind the dam bone-dry.

18. George C. Miles, loc. cit.,, p. 237-241; K.S.

Twitchell, Saudi Arabia, Princeton, NJ, 1958,
3rd ed., p. 134.
A. Grohmann, Expedition Philby-Ryckmans-
Lippens en Arabie, 1I° partie Textes
épigraphiques, tome 1, Arabic inscriptions,
Bibliothéque du Museon, vol. 50, Louvain,
1962, p. 56-58, z 68: Shirley Kay, Some ancient
dams of the Hejaz, Proceedings of the 1lth
Seminar for Arabian Studies, 8 (1978) p. 68-80.
Sami Sakkar, The dams of Taif--an observation
and comment, Proceedings of the 11th Seminar
for Arabian Studies, 8 (1978) p. 66-67; idem,
Note re the Saysad Dam near Taif, Proceedings
of the 12th Seminar for Arabian Studies, 9 (1979)
p- 113; Majeed Khan and Ail Al-Mughannam,
Ancient Dams in the Ta‘if Area 1981 (1401),
ATLAL, 6 (1402/1982) p. 125-135 and plates
105-123.



stepped on the downstream face and M.
Khan and A. al-Mughannam comment on
the quality of its construction and
resilience. Another dam system is located
at Wadi Liyya, south-west of al-Ta’if and is
known as Sadd al-Samallaqgi. It is 212.00
m. long, and stepped on the downstream
face. Early Kufic inscriptions are located
nearby, and Mrs. Kay has referred to local
association of the dam with Murawiya b.
Abi Sufyan and *Amr b. al-As, while
Khan and al-Mughannam favour an
Umayyad date for several of the dams
around al-T@’if.” There are more dams
further north, around Khaybar, but so far
these are undated. In view of the
epigraphic evidence of Umayyad dam
building in the Hijaz, the Umayyad
attribution of the al-Jilat principle dam is
at least as plausible as Glueck’s Roman
dating — especially when supported by the
scatter of Umayyad sherds south of the site
and the Umayyads’ known interest in this
particular area of eastern Jordan.
Nevertheless, it might be objected that the
Umayyad Sadd Saysid lacks the fine
masonry of the al-Jilit dam, for all its
strength; yet this point may be countered
by recalling that in Jordan and Bilad
al-Sham generally, the Umayyads had at
their disposal highly skilled stoneworkers,
whose availability accounts for the well-cut
blocks that form the eastern face of the
al-Jilat main dam: in the al-TZ’if area, a
different tradition of stone-working
prevailed.

Situated 37 kms. south of Qasr al-
Mushash and 26 kms. south-south-west of
Qasr al-Harana, 30 kms. east of Khan

al-Zabib (occupied during the Umayyad

period) and 25 kms. north-west of the
Umayyad Qagr al-Tuba, the water caught
by the al-Jilit dams could indeed have
supported large flocks, as Glueck has said,
although in Byzantine or the early Islamic
period on the weight of evidence rather
than the Roman. This instance of yet
another water storage point at least in use
under the Umayyads is particularly
important in view of the number of water
storage points at Qasr al-Mushash, which
we have already treated above as
indicating an early Islamic period concern
with pastoralism. In this context, a remark
by Alois Musil is interesting.> Discussing
the tribal history of the Wadi al-Sirh@n
area, Musil points out that the Sirhan has
tradmonally marked the boundary
between the camel rearing tribes to the
east and sheep and goat herders to the
west, i.e., the area of the Jilat dams and
Qasr al-Mushash. Musil discussed this
division in the context of the period of the
Umayyad Caliph °Abd al-Malik b. Marwan
and even_in his own day as he travelled
with the Al Ruwalld, the Sirhan remained
the boundary between camel herding
tribes and those raising sheep and goats.
Indeed, it is only in very recent years that
the practice of bringing in water by tanker
has allowed the formerly camel-herding
tribes of northern Sa‘udi Arabia to rear
sheep south and east of the Sirhan.” It
must not be forgotten that much political
support for the Umayyad Caliphate was
based on the tribes of eastern Jordan; it
seems quite plausible that the Umayyads
would have improved the water supplies

19. An interesting description was made of sherds
recovered in the vicinity of the al-TZ’if dams:
“Several unique pieces were found with a buff
slip and red to brown painted designs” (Juris
Zarins, Norman Whalen, Mohamad Ibrahim,
Abd al Jawad Mursi, and Majid Khan,
Comprehensive Archaeological Survey
Program: Preliminary Report on the Central
and Southwestern Provinces Survey: 1979,
ATLAL, 4 (1400/1980) p. 27. It would be useful
if these sherds were to be published as they are
strongly suggestive of Umayyad painted wares
familiar from Jordan.

The local connection of ‘Amr b. a1-°As and
Mu<wiya b. Abi Sufyan with the Sadd al-
Samallagi to which Mrs. Kay refers may be
supported by the presence of inscribed
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gravestones in the names of descendants of
*Amr from the mosque at “Ikrima, 6 kms. south
of al-Ta’if, dated to the 3rd/9th century
(Grohmann, op. cit., p. 9-11, p. 24-25, p. 27-28,
p- 33-34). Grohmann’s suggestion that ‘Amr’s
family owned land near Ikrima lends some
credence to the association of a major dam in
the area with his name.

A. Musil, Arabia Deserta, New York, 1927, p.
100, note 27; p. 335, note 81.

Dr. G. Knoess of FAO who specializes in camel
rearing kindly made this point to me during a
conversation in Sakdka, al-Jawf on September
26, 1982. The evidence of sheep herding as a
current, but recent, activity is clear along the
desolate highway between Tabuk and al-Jawf.

20.

21.




available for the herds of their supporters
in the eastern Jordanian desert as an
aspect of their policy on the desert
margins, facilitating movement between
Bilad al-Shdam and Arabia, and exercising
patronage in the area occupied by tribes
crucial to their power base.

Qasr Bayer (Pl. XC,1)

In the context of our investigations of
the eastern desert sites, we visited Bayer

to examine the qasr® which has been

attributed to the Umayyad period. If this

. were indeed correct, then its geographical

~ position would be particularly significant

in relation to other Umayyad sites in the
neighbourhood. Fortunately two ground-
plans of differing precision had been made
of the gasr prior to and just after its
demolition by Peake Pasha in 1931 to build
the Arab Legion fort that overlooks Bayer
wells from the hill above.”? So thorough
was Peake’s demolition of the qasr that
there was no point for us to measure the
surviving ridges which are all that remain.
We must therefore continue to rely on
plans and photographs provided by earlier
travellers. The main point emerging from
our own work at the site and touched on
by Mr. Scott Rolston is the questlon of the
attribution of the qasr.

Bayer was mentioned by A. Jaussen,*
B. Moritz® and A. Musil,® the latter
associating the site with the “Ubajr”
mentioned in the context of the Umayyad
Caliphs nevertheless, Musil implied that
in his view, the gasr was already standing
before Islam, refernng to the fact that the

Ghassanids under “Amr b. Harith passed it
ca. A.D. 620; indeed, Moritz mentioning
the same incident, assumed the gasr to be
Roman. H. Lammens” treated “Aba’ir”
as one of the hunting areas of the
Umayyads and Gertrude Bell took the
gasr to be of Umayyad origin when she
visited the site on her way to Ha’il on 20th
January, 1914.*
“And we came at two o’clock to the
last of the castles, Bair, as yet
unplanned and unphotographed. The
plan is a very old type and the place
may be 8th century. It is very famous
on account of its wells, and in
summer and autumn, if the Sukhur
are not camped here, all the ghazus
pass this way”.
D.G. Hogarth® was more specific still,
saying that Gertrude Bell had “thought it
an early Islamic castle like Tuba, and the
last that the desert-loving Caliphs of
Damascus had pushed out into the Syrian
waste’”, E. Schroeder planned the site in
1928 in the context of one of the Field
expeditions and compared it to Mshatta.®
Since Gertrude Bell had treated the qasr as
Umayyad and Schroeder had compared
the arrangements of rooms and courtyards
with Mshatta and since the latrines and
disposition of the buyut in Schroeder’s
plan were like those of Mshatta, K. A. C.
Creswell* followed this view. J. Sauvaget™
concluded that the gasr was typically
Umayyad, and Florance E. Day® also
accepted the Umayyad attribution.
Like Moritz and Musil, other visitors
to Bayer were proponents of an earlier

22. Map ref. BQ 777 057 (wells), Sheet 3351 IV, ed.
1. Other ruins are marked north-north-east in
the wadi which we did not examine. This is
presumably the birka mentioned by other
visitors. Bayer was visited 24th-25th July, 1981
with Mr. Scott L. Rolston and Ms. A.V.G.
Betts.

Creswell, op. cit., I, part 2, p. 642. Stein in
Kennedy, op. cit., p. 255-257.

A. Jaussen, Coutumes des Arabes de Moab,
1908, p. 70.

Moritz, loc. cit., p. 428, note 1.

Musil, Arabia Deserta, p. 324, note 76.

H. Lammens, La Badia et la Hira sous les
Omaiyades, Mélanges de la Faculté Orientale,
Université Saint-Joseph, IV (1910) p. 102, note
7; p- 109.

23.
24.
25.

26.
27.

—398 -

29,

28. Lady Bell (ed.), The Letters of Gertrude Bell,
London, 1930, p. 269.

D.G. Hogarth, Gertude Bell’s Journey to
Hayil, The Geographical Journal, LXX (1927:
no. 1) p. 6.

In H. Field, Op. cit., p. 100: plan, Fig. 29, p. 98.
K. A. C. Creswell, Early Muslim Architecture,
Oxford, 1969, I, part 2, p. 642-643.

J. Sauvaget, Remarques sur les monuments
omeyyades, Journal Asiatigue, CCXXXI
(Janvier-Mars, 1939) p. 39-40. Notwithstanding
the ceramic indications noted by Glueck to
suggest that the gasr was Nabataean, Sauvaget
categorically declared it to be that of al-Walid IT
on architectural grounds. He had not visited the
site.

In H. Field, op. cit.,

30.
31.

32.

33. p. 158-160.



dating. D. Carruthers* was captured by a
raiding party which was encamped at
Bayer wells in 1909. He took the gasr,
which he called a khan, or caravanserai, as
proof of an ancient trade route between
Egypt eastwards through al-JTawf to the
Gulf. Since the route that he mentions he
had extrapolated from the disposition of
sites on the map of Ptolemy, it is to be
inferred that, like Moritz, Carruthers
regarded the gasr and the route through
Bayer as Roman. T. E. Lawrence®
described the site as Ghassanid without
explaining why he held this view and Sir
Aurel Stein* was inclined to agree with
Lawrence. N. Glueck” treated the qasr as
Nabataean and G. L. Harding* in a brief
reference also dated the site as Nabataean,
mentioning possibly Chellean flints in the
wadi and ruined features.

The evidence of recent expeditions,
including our own, to Bayer does not lend
support to an Umayyad date for the qasr,
nor has any traceable Umayyad use of this
area of the site been identified. The
sherding by Mr. Rolston® and our own
show intense Nabataean use of the qasr
and our tabulation also provides evidence
of Roman and a possible Late Roman/
Early Byzantine occupation. Thereafter,
according to the available sherd evidence,
there was no further occupation at the qasr
to leave traceable material remains. In
these circumstances, it is difficult to
maintain that Qasr Bayer is Umayyad in
origin.

Musil® has referred to the fact that
there were three routes from north-west
Arabia into Jordan, one of which was
poorly supplied with water and passed
from Tayma’ to Kilwa and thence to Bayer

" and the north. It was a route less favoured

than that which lies further west or the :
Wadi al-Sirhan route in the east. On this _ ,
more difficult dry central route, the wells
at Bayer take on great importance for
travellers. There is no reason to suppose
that the wells were not used in the
Umayyad period even if the asr had
fallen into disuse or short halts at the place
left no material remains. Visitors to the
site have referred to the use of the wells by
the bedouin, and indeed, at the time of our
visit a group of Huwaytat were watering
their camels: such a role which the wells
must have always served would not
necessarily leave any traces. If the
Umayyad Caliphs indeed visited the site
then their passing left no more indication
than the bedouin. Unfortunately, we were
unable to visit the other installations near
the gasr and until these are examined it
canfiot be concluded whether or not there
are any constructions in the vicinity to be
dated to the early Islamic period. In
broader terms, the present information
from Bayer conforms with an apparent
dearth in southern Jordan of the early
Islamic ceramic types familiar in the
northern half of the country. Yet a
cautionary note must be struck, for Mr. A.
Killick* has recently reported early Islamic
material at Udhruh: more research is
required in southern Jordan and the
northern Hijaz before any conclusions can
be drawn about the region in the early
Islamic period, and especially under the
Umayyads.

The Mosque, Umm al-Walid (Pls. XC, 2;
XCL 1; XCL2; Figs. 2, 5), -

34. D. Carruthers, A journey in North-western
Arabia, The Geographical Journal, XXXV
(March, 1910) p. 243-244.

T. E. Lawrence, Seven Pillars of Wisdom,
Penguin ed., 1973, p. 288.

Stein in Kennedy, op. cit., p- 257.

N. Glueck Explorations... I7, AASOR, XIV
(1933) p. 73-75; plate XXXIX; idem
“Explorations... IV, AASOR, (1945-1949),
XXXV-XXVIII, pp. 47-49.

Harding, Unpublished Notebooks. Bowersock,
loc. cit., p. 242 has also proposed a Nabataean
date and a Roman use.

Scott Laird Rolston and Gary O. Rollefson,

35.

36.
37.

38.

39.
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The Wadi Bayir Paleoanthropological Survey,
ADAJ, XXVI (1982) p. 211-213. Although not
primarily concerned with late periods, the
sherds gathered at the qasr were read by Dr.
James Sauer (p. 213) and proved to be 95%
Nabataean indicators, with the remaining few
sherds Early Byzantine and Ottoman: a second
intensive sherding showed 100% Nabataean
indicators. '

- Musil, Arabia Deserta, p. 516 ff.

- A. Killick, Udruh--the frontier of an empire:
1980 and 1981 seasons, a preliminary report,
Levant, XV (1983) p. 121; p. 125; fig. 10.
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